1965

# Phyllis Lang v. J. Robert Lang : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for a garnishee judgment against a Utah resident who has been appointed by the California Court, executor of the estate of a California decedent, and who holds money in Utah which the California Court has ordered to be paid to Defendant.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff and Appellant, Phyllis Lang, obtained a garnishee judgment against Intervenor and Respondent, Samuel J. Carter, executor, pursuant to Mr. Carter's answers to a garnishment duly served upon him. Intervenor and Respondent moved the court to set aside the garnishee judgment. The Court, the Honorable Ray Van Cott Jr. presiding, granted the motion. From the order setting aside the garnishee judgment Plaintiff appeals.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the order setting aside the garnishee judgment.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Pursuant to judgments in the aggregate amounts of \$13,480.00, garnishments were issued, (R-1&2), to Plaintiff and duly served February 27, 1964 upon Intervenor, Samuel J. Carter, both individually and as executor, (R-3). Mr. Carter answered one of the garnishments, (R-1), stating that he had in his possession \$9,375.00 owing to Defendant, J. Robert Lang. A garnishee judgment, (R-4), was obtained against Mr. Carter and a garnishee execution was issued, (R-5), and duly served upon him on February 28, 1964, (R-6). On March 5, 1964, (R-20-6), Mr. Carter filed a com-

plaint in Interpleader, (R-20-1), and served the same on Plaintiff, (R-20-8). Mr. Carter stated that he was appointed Executor of the Estate of John Lang, deceased, by the California Court, (R-20-1), and that that court had made and entered its order directing Mr. Carter to pay the sum of \$19,500.00 to Defendant, (R-20-2). Mr. Carter admitted, (R-20-3), that he claimed no beneficial interest in the subject money and that he had already paid of this sum \$10,125.00 to an attorney in Salt Lake City, one Wilford Burton, at the direction of Defendant, (R-20-4). Mr. Burton was joined by Mr. Carter as a party Defendant in the Interpleader Action, (R-20-9), and moved to dismiss, (R-20-16). Argument on this motion was had before the Hon. Judge Aldon J. Anderson, (R-13), at which time Franklin Riter, Esq., representing Mr. Carter, stated that the subject funds were in Utah, that a final order had been entered by the California Court directing Mr. Carter to pay the money to Defendant and that Mr. Carter was a mere stakeholder and was therefore competent to institute an action in Interpleader in the Utah Courts as a foreign executor. The Hon. Judge Aldon J. Anderson denied the motion to dismiss, (R-20-26). At this point Tracy-Collins Bank & Trust Co. was granted leave to intervene, both in the subject case, (R-8), and in the companion Interpleader Case, (R-20-28). Intervenor, Tracy-Collins Bank & Trust Co., maintained that Defendant had assigned the subject money to it, (R-20-29), by instrument dated February 29, 1964, (R-20-34); this alle-

gation Mr. Carter readily conceded, (R-20-37). Mr. Carter then moved the Court to set aside the garnishee judgment, (R-10), on the grounds that the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, had no jurisdiction over him in his capacity as foreign executor, (R-11). The Court, the Hon. Ray Van Cott Jr. presiding, granted the motion, (R-15). From this order Plaintiff appeals, (R-17).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

ONCE A DISTRIBUTIVE SHARE OF AN ESTATE HAS BEEN ASCERTAINED AND ORDERED PAID, THE PROPERTY MAY BE REACHED BY A JUDGMENT CREDITOR OF AN HEIR IN A GARNISHMENT PROCEEDING.

It is well settled that once a distributive share of an estate has been ascertained and ordered paid, the property is no longer in *custodia legis* and may be garnished by a judgment creditor of the heir. 4 *Bancroft Probate Practice 2nd*, Vol. 4, p. 504; 59 *ALR* 777; 6 *Am Jur 2nd, Attach. & Garn. par.* 214.

Prior to the order of distribution, the general rule is that a distributive share of an heir will not be subject to garnishment while in the hands of the court-appointed administrator or executor. The California Court

in *Dunsmoor v. Furstenfeldt*, (Cal.), 26 Pac. 518, states the reason for this rule and the rule that pertains following an order of distribution:

“The only reason assigned by the authorities for the rule prohibiting the attachment of property in the custody of the law is that such attachment would generally delay and embarrass judicial and other official proceedings in the administration of such property and that this is a sufficient reason for the rule, as applied to all judicial proceedings in regard to such property, is generally admitted; and to this extent the weight of authority admits no exception to the rule. *But, according to a great preponderance of the modern cases, there are some exceptions to the rule applied to property in the custody of purely executive officers, based on the maxim that the rule should not be applied when the reason of the rule ceases . . . (Emphasis Supplied) . . .*

. . . When defendant has a right to a certain distributive share of the fund in the hands of a receiver, master in chancery, or trustee of the court, the officer may be effectually garnished by a creditor of the party so entitled, after the court has ordered it to be paid.

“The authorities seem to concur in holding receivers and similar officers liable to garnishment when they have in their hands a definite sum to which the defendant or judgment debtor is clearly entitled, and the officer has nothing more to do with the fund than to pay it over. Some of them may go beyond, but none, so far as they have been examined, fall short of this conclusion.”

The language used in 59 *ALR* 778 in noting the Illinois Case, *Bartell v. Baumann*, 12 Ill. App. 450, is typical of that used by the courts in most jurisdictions:

“Subsequently to the decree of distribution, each share is finally and definitely ascertained, and a cause of action exists, therefore, against the representative in his individual capacity in favor of the distributee.”

Wherever this point has arisen in the western states, the courts have followed this line of reasoning; thus the California Court said *In Re Nerac*, 35 Cal. 392, at page 397:

“By the decree each share is finally and definitely ascertained, and a cause of action thereafter exists against the administrator in favor of the distributee, and we are unable to perceive why, on the score of public policy, or anything else, the money thus judicially determined to be due from the administrator to the distributee should not be within the reach of the creditors of the latter . . . We consider it clear that, after distribution has been decreed, an executor or administrator may be garnished . . . ”

Similarly, the Colorado court said in *Isbell-Kent-Oakes Dry Goods Co. v. Larimer County Bank & Trust Co.*, (Colo.) 226 Pac. 293, at page 294:

“It is said that the widow’s allowance was in *custodia legis*. Not so. It had been ordered by the court to be paid to her, and the administrator had no duty but to pay it. It was a debt from him to her.”

And the Oregon Court held in *Harrington v. LaRocque*, (Ore.) 10 Pac. 498:

“It may be considered clear that when the distributive share of an heir has been ascertained, and ordered to be paid by the court, it is no longer regarded as in the custody of the law. The right to it has become fixed, and the executor ceases to hold in his representative, but in his personal, capacity. After distribution has been decreed, it may, therefore, be garnished in the hands of the executor.”

In the instant case, Respondent, Mr. Carter, admits that he was appointed executor of the estate of John Lang by the California Court, and that the court had made and entered its order, directing Mr. Carter to pay the sum of \$19,500.00 to Defendant, J. Robert Lang. Mr. Carter further admits that he paid, of this sum, \$10,235.00 to an attorney, Wilford Burton, in Salt Lake City, Utah, at the direction of Defendant, J. Robert Lang. On February 28, 1964, Mr. Carter answered a garnishment under oath, stating that he had remaining of the original \$19,500.00 owing to Defendant, J. Robert Lang, in his possession \$9,375.00. There is no qualification to the answer. It is therefore, obvious that the funds held by Mr. Carter for the Defendant were no longer part of the assets of the estate of the California decedent and not in custody of the law of the California court, but were the unconditional property of the Defendant and as such were subject to garnishment by the Plaintiff. Indeed, as set forth above, Mr. Carter admitted paying out of the

fund \$10,125.00 to a Utah attorney at the direction of the Defendant. As a matter of fact, Mr. Carter obviously feels that the Defendant could, two days following Plaintiff's garnishment, assign the balance of the funds to the Intervenor, Tracy-Collins Bank & Trust Company. It is indeed strange that Mr. Carter would press upon this court the anomalous situation that funds in his possession in Utah could be assigned by a non-resident to a Utah attorney and a Utah bank but could not be garnished by a Utah resident-creditor of the non-resident Defendant.

## POINT II.

### FOREIGN EXECUTORS MAY SUE OR BE SUED UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES.

The courts generally follow the law as stated in the *Restatement of the Law, Conflict of Laws*, Par. 512, p. 617:

“No action can be maintained against any administrator outside the state of his appointment *upon a claim against the estate of the decedent.*”  
(Emphasis supplied).

The rationale given is as follows:

“The administrator holds the assets of the decedent which come into his possession subject to the directions of the court which appointed him, and is responsible only to that court. For a court in another state to order payment *from*

*assets of the decedent in the hands of the foreign administrator would be an improper interference with the administration by the court in the first state.” (Emphasis supplied).*

In *Wilcox v. District Court of Salt Lake County*, 2 Utah 2nd 227, 272 Pac. 2nd 157, this court said:

“We adhere to the principle enunciated in the Restatement which appears to cover the case before us.”

Respondent, Mr. Carter, and, indeed, the lower court relied on the Wilcox Case for the blanket proposition that a foreign executor had no standing in the courts of Utah under any circumstances. It is respectfully submitted that such is not the law. This writer has noted that the cases following the general rule, (Wilcox Case), are uniform in that at least one of the following is present:

- (1) The action is against the Defendant in his representative capacity as executor or administrator, as in the Wilcox Case.
- (2) The foreign administrator is sought to be substituted for the deceased, as in the Wilcox Case.
- (3) The foreign administrator is not personally within the state nor personally served within the state, as in the Wilcox Case.
- (4) The property of the estate is not within the forum, as in the Wilcox Case.
- (5) The assets of the estate are being attacked, as in the Wilcox Case.

In the subject case the proceeding is not against Mr. Carter in his representative capacity as executor of the estate of John Lang, but rather in his capacity as a personal debtor to the Defendant.

In the subject case no attempt is being made to substitute Mr. Carter as a party for the deceased.

In the subject case Mr. Carter is within the State of Utah and has been properly served within the State of Utah.

In the subject case the assets of the estate of the deceased are not being attacked, but rather funds that were ordered by the California Court to be paid by Mr. Carter to Defendant, J. Robert Lang.

A review of cases following the general rule indicates that there is not a single instance wherein the rule is applied to suits attacking a distributive share held by an executor after a decree of distribution, for in such an action a foreign executor is not acting in his representative capacity in behalf of a foreign estate, but as a mere stakeholder of the distributive share.

Even when an action is brought against a foreign executor in his representative capacity and against the general assets of an estate before a decree of distribution, the courts have allowed certain exceptions to the general rule. For instance, (1) where a failure of justice would follow if equity withheld relief, or (2) where the foreign representative had put himself in the position of an individual wrongdoer, or (3) *where*

*there was a res within the jurisdiction to be disposed of or preserved, the courts have realistically excepted the general rule. 53 ALR 2nd 325; McAndrews v. Krause, (Minn.), 71 NW 2nd 153; Allsup v. Allsup, 18 Tenn. 283; Cerrone v. Trans World Airlines, (N.Y.), 148 NYS 2nd 162.*

In *McAndrews v. Krause supra*, the court explained:

“As a general rule, a foreign representative in his capacity as representative of an estate may not be sued in any jurisdiction outside of the state in which he was appointed . . . There is an exception to this rule, however, when under certain circumstances assets are within the forum’s jurisdiction and the action is of an equitable nature . . .

“The Plaintiffs presently find themselves in such a position that they would be unable to get jurisdiction over Krause were they to commence a proceeding in Iowa because he is a Minnesota resident, and also because a substantial portion of the assets are in Minnesota. Under such circumstances an equity court will recognize an exception to the general rule.

“ . . . In actions in equity, where it is necessary to prevent a failure of justice, jurisdiction will be assumed *at least so far as the relief to be secured relates to property in the jurisdiction of the court.*’

“The rule in Virginia is to the same effect. *Sylvania Industries Corporation v. Liliensfelds Estate*, 132 Fed. 2nd 887, 890, 145 ALR 612.

“*Since Executor Krause is a resident of Min-*

*nesota and since there is property within the state over which this state's power extends, we hold that the personal service of the summons and complaint in this action is sufficient to enable the district court to acquire personal jurisdiction over him as representative of the estate at least insofar as property in this state is concerned."* (Emphasis supplied).

It will be noted that in the above case an action was allowed against the foreign executor *in his representative capacity*, against the *general assets of the estate* within the forum, and *before a decree of distribution*; in the subject case the action is against a foreign executor *in his individual capacity as a mere stakeholder* against an *adjudicated share* after the court has ordered the amount to be paid. There is no "interference with the administration by the court" of California.

### POINT III.

**A FOREIGN EXECUTOR IS NOT A REAL PARTY IN INTEREST WHEN A MERE STAKEHOLDER. JURISDICTION IS OBTAINED BY STRICT ADHERENCE TO GARNISHMENT STATUTES.**

As seen above, many courts have spoken of an administrator and executor as having doffed his official robes after the court which appointed him has ordered him to pay specific funds to specific persons; at that moment he becomes rather a personal debtor of that person designated by the court to be paid by the rep-

representative of the estate. There is no contention by Mr. Carter that he is other than a stakeholder or that he has any beneficial interest in the funds which are the subject of this case.

For the purpose of determining diversity of citizenship, Federal Courts have held that an interpleader is a custodian or stakeholder of property and is merely a nominal party whose citizenship does not affect the question of jurisdiction; that the claimants of the funds held by the stakeholder are the real contestants and their citizenship and not that of the stakeholder determines jurisdiction. *Cramer v. Phoenix Mutual Life Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn., et al.*, (8th Cir.), 91 Fed 2nd 141; *Federal Reserve Bank v. Omaha National Bank*, (8th Cir.), 45 Fed. 2nd 511. Similarly, Mr. Carter's official citizenship as an executor in a California Court does not affect the jurisdiction of the Utah Courts, when Mr. Carter is acting as a mere stockholder. [5c]

A garnishment is a proceeding *quasi in rem*, 38 CJS 205. Moneys not in *custodia legis* and within the four corners of the forum are therefore liable to a proceeding *quasi in rem* even without personal jurisdiction, 87 ALR 485. The statutory requirements in the subject case were strictly adhered to as regards the service of the garnishment and the subsequent judgment, and therefore jurisdiction was obtained over the subject money, regardless of whether or not the voluntary answers of Mr. Carter to the garnishment gave this court jurisdiction over his person, as held in *Graham*

*v. Hidden Lake Copper Company*, 53 Utah 230, 178 Pac. 64.

## CONCLUSION

It is mete and right, that the law as we know it have broad guidelines and general, well-established principles which to follow. However, in each individual case, the court should search the interstices of the law as pertains to the set of facts before it. There are many well known exceptions to the so-called hard and fast rules of law, such as, exceptions in cases that would seem at first blush to come under the statute of frauds. The case at hand is one in point. The fact that Mr. Carter is labeled a foreign executor does not change the fact that he is a mere debtor of Defendant, having in his possession in Utah money which he admits owing the Defendant. Mr. Carter is able and, it would appear, eager to pay that money to someone—someone other than the Plaintiff. It is neither just nor equitable that this court should compel a Utah resident to go out of this jurisdiction to satisfy Utah judgments in a foreign court when the money in controversy is no longer of any interest to that court and in fact is in Utah and part of which has been assigned to other Utah residents by the non-resident debtor of Plaintiff.

The order of the lower court setting aside the garnishee judgment should be reversed.