2001

Phyllis Lang v. J. Robert Lang, Samuel J. Carter : Brief of Intervenor-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Broads v. Mead, 159 Cal. 765, 116 Pac. 460;

Southern Insurance Co. v. Anderson, 130 Tenn. 482, 172 S.W. 318;

Thomson v. Wooster, 114 U.S. 104, 29 L.ed. 105, 5 S.Ct. 788;

Hopt v. Utah, 114 U.S. 488, 29 L.ed. 183, 5 S.Ct. 972;

Howard v. Howard, 269 Wis. 334, 69 N.W.(2d) 492;

Berg v. Griffith, 127 Neb. 501, 256 N.W. 44, 102 A.L.R. 1124;

Smolinski v. Kabla, 21 Ohio App. 52, 153 N.E. 104.

(b) The affidavit itself contains self-serving statements of the attorney for the plaintiff-appellant. It is an attempt on his part to rectify a defect in the record on appeal. The Court file in the action of Samuel J. Carter, etc. vs. Phyllis Lang, etc. (Civil Action 148,659) was not introduced in evidence at the time of the argument of the motion to annul and set aside the garnishee judgment. The recital of paragraph 4 of this affidavit attempts to correct this deficiency.

(c) Paragraph 4 of the affidavit contains declarations which are manifestly the rankest type of hearsay. The affiant attempts to recite the occurrences at the argument of counsel upon the presentation of a motion in a separate and distinct action. It sets forth facts upon which no issue was joined at the hearing on the motion to set aside the garnishee judgment. The garnishee-respondent Carter, Executor, had no opportunity to meet and controvert the allegations of this paragraph.

(d) The issue in this instant appeal to be determined is whether or not the garnishee judgment against the garnishee-respondent is valid. The facts set forth in paragraph 4 of the affidavit are entirely immaterial and irrelevant to this issue. There can be no problem as to *res judicata* because the order of Judge Anderson denying the motion of Burton to dismiss the interpleader complaint was not a final judgment upon which such plea could be based,

“***since it is a general rule that a judgment sought to be used as a basis for the application of the doctrine of *res judicata* must be final and not an interlocutory judgment.” (30A Am. Jur. — Judgments — Sec. 340, p. 384).

Preliminary orders such as sustaining or denying motions to dismiss are not final judgments which can be pleaded as *res judicata* or estoppel by judgment in another action. *Loveless v. Carten*, 64 Ga. App. 54, 12 S.E.(2d) 715. And an order denying a motion to dismiss not being final is not *res judicata*. *Sachs v. Ohio Nat. Life Ins. Co.*, 148 Fed.(2d) 128, 158 L.R.A. 688, 693; cert. denied, 326 U.S. 753, 90 L.ed. 452, 66 S.Ct. 92.

“All judicial and academic authority supports the rule that the issues which are litigated or may be litigated in an action can be finally adjudicated only by final judgment on the merits. Discontinuance or abatement of the action before final

judgment leaves the issues open to contest in other litigation, even though they had been decided provisionally by order entered upon a motion made in the action or by interlocutory judgment.

“The test then is not the form of the decision, but the nature of the proceedings in which the adjudication is made. If in such proceedings the jurisdiction of the court is limited in scope so that particular questions may be decided only provisionally or for a limited purpose, a decision in any form can be given effect only within the same limits. Thus, a motion to open a default for any reason is generally addressed to the discretion of the court, and is in its nature interlocutory. Such a motion can never result in a decision of the issues involved in the controversy, since it is always predicated upon the fact that the defaulting party has lost the opportunity to present the issue to the court, and the question always is whether the party applying should be permitted to plead.” * * * On the other hand, an order entered upon the report of a referee on a motion to cancel a judgment is conclusive adjudication ‘so far as it covers what was actually and necessarily tried on that reference.’ * * * In both cases the proceedings were in form motions in an action, and in both cases the court was required to decide all questions of law or fact presented. The distinction is that in the first case the only relief which was asked, or which the court could grant, upon the motion was provisional in its nature, and even if granted, would leave open for subsequent conclusive adjudication in the same action every issue of fact raised by the pleadings, while in the second case, if the application were granted,

the questions necessarily decided upon the application could not be litigated anew in any litigation pending in the same tribunal. Thus the nature of the first proceeding precluded a final decision of the questions there raised, while the nature of the second proceeding required such decision." (Bannon v. Bannon, 270 N.Y. 484, 1 N.E. (2d) 975, 105 A.L.R. 1401 at 1405).

The order denying Burton's motion to dismiss Carter's interpleader complaint did not finally determine the issues of that lawsuit. It was but preliminary to a final judgment which would be entered after trial on the merits. An order denying a motion to dismiss is but a preliminary order not finally adjudicating the issues. (Rule 12(b) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure). A motion to dismiss does not call for adjudication on the merits of the case but is concerned solely with the question of whether the pleadings sustain the cause of action. (Daehla Greeting Cards, Inc. v. Summerfield, D.C.D.C. 1953, 116 Fed. Sup. 68; Savada Bros. v. Conville, D.C.Pa. 1948, 8 F.R.D. 127).

This affidavit should be stricken from the record on appeal.

2. Motion of Tracy Collins Bank and Trust Company, Trustee, to intervene in the instant action; order making Tracy Collins Bank and Trust Company, Trustee, a party to said action and its motion to set aside the garnishee judgment against garnishee-respondent.

These documents and the action represented thereby are certainly immaterial and irrelevant to the issue on this appeal. While the record on appeal shows that Tracy Collins Bank and Trust Company, Trustee, was made a party to this action, it does not show the disposition by the Court of its motion to set aside the garnishee judgment. These documents should not have been placed in the record on appeal. They give no assistance in determining the validity of the garnishee judgment as between plaintiff-appellant and the garnishee-respondent. They should be stricken.

3. *District Court file in action of Samuel J. Carter, etc. vs. Phyllis Lang, etc., Civil Action 148659.*

(a) This file covers an interpleader action filed by Samuel J. Carter as Executor of the Estate of John Lang, deceased, and as an individual against Phyllis Lang, J. Robert Lang, Wilford M. Burton, and George Beckstead, Sheriff of Salt Lake County, Utah. The file was never introduced in evidence at the hearing of the motion of the garnishee-respondent to set aside, annul and declare void the garnishee judgment against said Carter in his representative capacity aforesaid. It therefore could not be considered by the trial court in the determination of this motion. The affidavit of Amoss, discussed in (a) supra, was an attempt by counsel for the plaintiff-appellant to dragoon this file into the record on appeal.

“Documentary evidence consisting of copies of court records in other proceedings are not properly a part of the record and cannot be considered on appeal, where the evidence is not reported, the trial judge made no report of material facts found by him, and there is nothing to show that such copies were all the evidence presented at the hearing below.” (Syllabus). (Damon v. Damon, 312 Mass. 268, 44 N.E.(2d) 657, 143 A.L.R. 463).

“The record contains no copy of the answer of the defendant Laura Powers in the partition suit and no statement of its substance. We cannot consider a copy of Laura Powers’ answer attached as an exhibit to the application for the writ and made from an abstract of title used on the trial. References in the statement of facts to pages of the abstract on which other instruments which were copied in the statement of facts appear do not make the answer of Laura Powers a part of the record when it is nowhere copied or referred to in the statement of facts.” (Davis v. First Nat. Bank, 139 Tex. 36, 161 S.W.(2d) 467, 144 A.L.R. 1).

(b) The institution and pendency of said Civil Action No. 148,659 and the issues therein involved are matters entirely irrelevant to the issues raised by the aforesaid motion of Carter as Executor, etc. to annul the garnishee judgment.

The District Court file in this action should be stricken from the record on appeal.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT HAS PROCEEDED IN THIS ACTION AGAINST CARTER IN HIS CAPACITY AS EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE AND UNDER THE LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT OF JOHN LANG, DECEASED, AND NOT AGAINST CARTER AS AN INDIVIDUAL.

The copy of the writ of garnishment served on Carter (R-1) was addressed to him in his capacity as Executor. He answered the same in his capacity as "Executor of the Estate of John Lang, deceased" (R-1), and by his answers he specifically declared that his possession of the sum of \$9,375.00 was in his role as Executor and not as an individual. The garnishee judgment (R-4) was against "Samuel J. Carter as Executor of the Estate of John Lang, deceased"; it was not against Carter as an individual. The garnishee execution (R-5) based on said garnishee judgment was against Carter as Executor. The notice of appeal in this action (R-17) designated the order appealed from as "setting aside, annulling and declaring void that certain garnishee judgment rendered in this action on the 28th day of February, 1964, *against Samuel J. Carter, Executor of the Estate of John Lang* and in favor of plaintiff above named" (R-17) (Italics supplied).

In its manifest, therefore, on the face of the record that Carter was before the District Court as Executor of the Lang Estate and not as an individual. He is before this Court in his role as Executor and not as an

individual. The plaintiff-appellant, by her own action, chose to bring Carter before the Court in his representative capacity and not as an individual.

The foregoing facts proved by the record on appeal decisively deny the assertion by plaintiff-appellant found at the top of page 12 of her brief to the effect that "the proceeding is not against Mr. Carter in his representative capacity as executor of the estate of John Lang, but rather in his capacity as a personal debtor to the defendant. In the subject case no attempt is being made to substitute Mr. Carter as a party for the deceased."

POINT III

A PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF A DECEASED PERSON CAN SUE OR BE SUED, OR CAN BE A PARTY TO AN ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS REPRESENTATIVE, ONLY IN THE STATE WHERE HE WAS APPOINTED, AND HIS ROLE AS EXTENDED PERSONALITY OF THE DECEASED DOES NOT EXIST EXTRATERRITORIALLY BUT ONLY WITHIN THE FOUR CORNERS OF THE STATE OF HIS APPOINTMENT, EXCEPT WHERE, BY SPECIAL APPEARANCE OR EXTRAORDINARY WRIT THE COURT'S JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN THE LITIGATION ITSELF IS ATTACKED.

I. *This case is governed by the general rule. The above principle of law is firmly established in Utah. (Wilcox v. District Court of Salt Lake County, et al.,*

2 Utah (2d) 227, 272 Pac. (2d) 157). It is also the law of the State of California (Kaplan v. Superior Court, 191 Cal. App.(2d) 482, 12 Cal. Rep. 781, 782; Winbigler v. Shattuck, 40 Cal. App. 562, 195 Pac. 707). The doctrine is generally applied (MacMaster v. Gould, 239 N.Y. 606, 147 N.E. 214, 40 A.L.R. 792; Nat. Bank of Topeka, et al. v. Mitchell, et al., 154 Kan. 276, 118 Pac.(2d) 519; 4 Bancroft's Probate Practice (2d), Sec. 1225 p. 573; Lefebure, et al. v. Baker, et al., 60 Mont. 193, 220 Pac. 1111).

“If we go back to the historic origin of the executor's position, we find that he once took the assets in his own right. Executors in Earlier English Law by Holmes, 9 Harvard L. Rev. 42. No reason could then be given why he should not be sued wherever he could be found. But at the present day both executors and administrators hold the assets of the estate in a fiduciary capacity. The will is the source of the executor's power, and letters testamentary are evidence of his authority, but the rights and liabilities of both executors and administrators in respect to the fund in their hands are like those of trustees. The wide distinction between the nature of the title of executors and administrators has disappeared, but this essential difference as to the source of title remains: The foreign administrator exists only by virtue of the statute of another state; the executor's authority springs from the will and not from the letters testamentary.” (MacMaster v. Gould, *supra*).

The plaintiff-appellant proceeded against Carter, as above demonstrated in Point II, in his capacity as a

foreign executor by the issuance of the writ of garnishment against him in such capacity. Carter answered the writ as Executor of the Lang Estate. The garnishee judgment was against Carter as Executor of the Lang Estate, and the execution garnishment ran against him in the same capacity. Carter as a California executor did not and does not exist in Utah. The plaintiff-appellant, therefore proceeded against less than a shadow — a non-existent personality and entity. The garnishee judgment she obtained has no legal efficacy; it is a blank piece of paper. Under the rule announced, Carter as California executor was authorized to appear specially on his motion to set aside this imaginative, fictitious judgment of no legal effect. The District Court had no alternative but to cancel and annul this fictitious judgment.

2. *This case is not within any exception to the general rule.* Plaintiff-appellant, under Point II of her brief, asserts that the garnishee judgment in this action may be sustained under an exception to the general rule. The complete answer to this contention is that there is not an iota of evidence in the record on appeal that there were or are any funds of the estate within the jurisdiction of the District Court of Salt Lake County which must be disposed of or preserved. There is a presumption, in the absence of negative proof, that inasmuch as Carter was and is a California executor the funds are within the State of California and under the jurisdiction of the Superior Court of Orange County. No effort has been

made by plaintiff-appellant to prove that the funds were or are within the State of Utah. The record is completely silent on that point. Secondly, Carter as Executor of the Lang Estate has been guilty of no act which could stamp him as "an individual wrong-doer." He promptly responded to the interrogatories of the writ of garnishment. He honestly stated that he held funds as Executor of the Lang Estate "owing to defendant (J. Robert Lang) in settlement of an action brought against me as such Executor by defendant and others." In his response he made no claim to these funds as an individual. Thirdly, there is no failure of justice in the action of Judge Van Cott in annulling the fictitious garnishee judgment against the California executor. If the exception exists it can be justified only in those instances where a creditor is denied other relief or the enforcement of his rights is an onerous and almost impossible accomplishment. Such is not the fact in the instant case. The California courts were open to her at all times to enforce her claim against the funds in the possession of the California executor.

This case might well end at this point.

POINT IV

THE FUNDS HELD BY CARTER AS CALIFORNIA EXECUTOR DO NOT REPRESENT A DISTRIBUTIVE SHARE OF THE LANG ESTATE.

Carter in his answer to the second interrogatory contained in the writ of garnishment answered: "Yes —

as such executor I have in my possession \$9,375.00 owing to defendant in *settlement of an action brought against me as such executor by defendant and others.*" (Italics supplied.) There is no denial of Carter's statement in the record on appeal. It stands uncontroverted and undenied. These funds do not represent the defendant's distributive share in the Lang Estate inasmuch as there has been no segregation of the estate's assets for purposes of distribution to the heirs or beneficiaries of the estate. They were funds which remained part of the estate's assets but which the executor intended to use in payment of the settlement of the defendant's claim against him. There cannot be found in the record on appeal any evidence other than the assertion made by Carter in his return to the writ of garnishment identifying these funds. It therefore follows that the argument and authorities presented in Point I of plaintiff-appellant's brief do not relate to or cover the situation in the present case.

POINT V

THE UTAH DISTRICT COURT HAD NO JURISDICTION OVER THE FUNDS HELD BY THE CALIFORNIA EXECUTOR AND AS PART OF THE ASSETS OF A CALIFORNIA ESTATE AND THEREFORE COULD NOT RENDER A BINDING OR EFFECTIVE JUDGMENT DISPOSING OF THE SAME.

The record on appeal shows conclusively that Carter held these funds in his role as California executor. He made a voluntary appearance in the garnishment pro-

ceedings by filing his return to the writ of garnishment. He conferred jurisdiction of the Court over himself personally, but he could not and did not confer jurisdiction of the Court over the res. The res in this instance were the funds in his possession as executor appointed by a California court. It was beyond his authority to confer upon the District Court any jurisdiction over these funds. In the case of *Bristol v. Brent*, 36 Utah, 108, 103 Pac. 1076 at 1079, the Court wrote:

“The regularity of this service, in so far as it is personal to the garnishee, may be waived by him, and he may appear before the court, either in person or by answer, if the law authorizes one to be made and filed, and thereby confer jurisdiction over his person. But when the garnishee has thus conferred jurisdiction upon the court over his person, only one of the essential elements to its complete jurisdiction to proceed in the case is present. The other, jurisdiction over the res, is still lacking. While the defendant, no doubt, may insist that, unless the court have jurisdiction over the person of the garnishee, the debt owing from the garnishee to the defendant cannot be seized, yet the defendant cannot prevent the garnishee from waiving any defects in the service in so far as it affects merely the jurisdiction of the court over the person of the garnishee. But when it affects the res, the very thing to be taken from the defendant, he may insist upon a full compliance with the law, and without such compliance the court can acquire no jurisdiction over it without the consent of the defendant. Whether

the court has jurisdiction over the res or not, therefore, does not depend on whether the garnishee objects, but it depends entirely on whether the statute, by virtue of which alone the court is authorized to act, has been complied with. If the return of the officer discloses an essential defect in this regard, the court is without power to proceed, and hence should arrest the proceedings on its own motion."

This rule has been followed in a great number of cases.

"The court had no jurisdiction of the res in this case, and therefore was in no position to render a binding or effective judgment in so far as the property or credits of the principal defendant were concerned." (Federal Truck Co. v. Mayer, 216 Mo. App. 443, 270 S.W. 407).

"As the justice was without jurisdiction of the res (the real subject matter) for two reasons: first, that the service of process was invalid and not cured by appearance although appearance was made; and, second, because the subject matter itself is not in the state nor subject to the process of its courts * * *. The answer of the garnishee, setting up its non-residence, was not controverted, so far as the record shows, and must be taken as true. That establishes a want of jurisdiction by showing that the subject matter is beyond the territorial jurisdiction of the court. It is an utter want of jurisdiction, in defiance of which the justice went on and gave judgment. * * * What purports to be the return of service being void under the statute and decisions of this court,

it could not confer any jurisdiction of the subject matter, although the garnishee appeared and subjected itself to the jurisdiction of the court." (Pennsylvania Railroad Co. v. Rogers, et al., 52 W. Va., 450, 62 L.R.A. 178, 189).

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